#### EFFECTS OF LOW HUMIDITY ON COMFORT, HEALTH, AND INDOOR ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY: LITERATURE REVIEW

by

#### MARYAM HAMEHKASI

#### B.S., Bu-Ali-Sina University, 2007 M.S., Azad University-Science and Research Branch, 2010

#### A REPORT

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Biological and Agricultural Engineering College of Engineering

#### KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

2016

Approved by:

Co-Major Professor Dr. Ronaldo G. Maghirang Approved by:

Co-Major Professor Dr. Melanie M. Derby

# Copyright

MARYAM HAMEHKASI

2016

### Abstract

This study was conducted to investigate the effects of humidity on comfort, health, and indoor environment quality (IEQ) using a comprehensive literature review. Published papers were obtained from keyword and citation searches from bibliographic databases (i.e., PubMed, Scopus, and Google Scholar), including papers from 1985 to 2015. Over 600 papers were identified and classified based on topic area; from these papers, seven were chosen as case studies for this report.

The seven papers represent studies on various topics, including bacteria, influenza/virus transmission, elderly subjects, indoor air quality, effects on eyes and skin, dust mites, and asthma. Theunissen et al. (1993) showed bacteria (gram positive and gram negative) do not act the same in low or high humidity conditions. Lowen et al. (2007) studied influenza transmission. Sunwoo et al. (2006) used elderly subjects to study eyes, skin, and comfort. Reinikianen et al. (1992) and Nordström et al. (1994) surveyed a large number of subjects, controlled humidity, and assessed multiple factors regarding indoor health and comfort. Arlian et al. (2001) implemented dehumidifier as a way to reduce house dust mites. Kaminsky et al. (1995) tested asthmatic subjects and healthy subjects to compare the effects of dry air on asthma. From these case studies low humidity appeared to have a variety of effects on health and comfort; however, no precise and defined borderline exists to distinguish acceptable low humidity. Acceptable low humidity levels depend on many factors, including building location and purpose, age of occupants, and climatic conditions.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Figures
List of Tables
Acknowledgements vii
Dedication
Chapter 1 - Introduction
1.1 Humidity definitions
1.2 Relationship between humidity parameters
1.3 Objectives
1.4 Literature review process
Chapter 2 - Case Studies
2.1 Sunwoo et al. (2006)
2.2 Reinikainen et al. (1992)
2.3 Lowen et al. (2007)
2.4 Theunissen et al. (1993)
2.5 Nordström et al. (1994)
2.6 Kaminsky et al. (1995)
2.7 Arlian et al. (2001)
Chapter 3 - Conclusions and Future Work
References

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Total US energy consumed by major sectors of the economy	. 1
Figure 2: Relationship between relative humidity and humidity ratio	. 3
Figure 3: Relationship between relative humidity and specific humidity	. 4
Figure 4: Relationship between relative humidity and absolute humidity	. 4
Figure 5: Virus transmission in guinea pigs changes	19
Figure 6: Survival of C pneumoniae at different temperatures and RH.	22
Figure 7: Difference in peripheral resistance (Rp)	29

## List of Tables

Table 1: Keyword search terms	6
Table 2: List of papers that were identified	7
Table 3: Categories and number of relevant papers	9
Table 4: Selected case studies	10
Table 5: Means of health scores used in the experiment	15
Table 6: Changes of symptoms in humidified group and control group	26

## Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to all those who provided me the possibility to complete this report. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisors, Dr. Ronaldo Maghirang and Dr. Melanie M. Derby, for their support of my graduate study and research, for their patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. Their guidance helped me in research and writing of this report.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Steve Eckels and Dr. Byron Jones, for their helpful suggestions and technical comments. I would like to thank Dr. Joseph Harner and Ms. Barb Moore, for all their help in my school life. I would like to thank ASHRAE TRP 1630 for support of this work.

A special thanks to my families, to my dearest parents, who offered invaluable support and humor over the years, my sister Bahareh for supporting me spiritually throughout my life. My dear brother Nader for giving me strength to reach for the stars and chase my dreams. Thank you all for the sacrifices that you've made on my behalf. I would also thank all my friends and colleagues who made my graduate school experience enjoyable, I have been fortunate to have many friends who cherish me despite my eccentricities.

## Dedication

Dedicated to my lovely Family.

تقديم به خانواده عزيزم.

## **Chapter 1 - Introduction**

Many people in North America spend about 90% of their time indoors [1]. As a result, investigation of indoor building environments has become important. Residential and commercial buildings consume 40% of the total energy in the United States (Figure 1) [2]. Energy is required to meet heating and cooling demands depending on the climate. In addition to minimizing energy consumption, buildings must be healthy and comfortable for occupants. Humidity level is a primary factor affecting building human comfort, health, and indoor environmental quality (IEQ). IEQ is related to lighting, air pollutants, and health and well-being of occupants. Many studies have been conducted to determine effects of high humidity on building occupants, including negative effects of high humidity in kitchens and bathrooms [3-5]. However, with the exception of the literature review by Sterling et al. [6], few in-depth case studies have focused on impacts of low humidity. Therefore, effects of low humidity on health, comfort, and IEQ must be studied.



Figure 1: Total US energy consumed by major sectors of the economy. Data were obtained from the U.S. Energy Information Administration [7]

## 1.1 Humidity definitions

Humidity describes the water content in air. Definitions of humidity, including relative, absolute, and specific humidity are presented in the following sections. Definitions were obtained from the ASHRAE Fundamentals Handbook [8].

Relative humidity ( $\Phi$ ) or RH is the ratio of the mole fraction of water vapor  $X_w$  in a given moist air sample to the mole fraction  $X_{ws}$  in the air sample saturated at the same temperature and pressure (eqn 1). Relative humidity can also be defined as the ratio of partial pressure ( $P_w$ ) to saturation pressure ( $P_{ws}$ ).

$$\Phi = \frac{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{w}}}{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{w}s}} = \frac{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{w}}}{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{w}s}} \tag{1}$$

Absolute humidity  $(d_v)$  is the ratio of the mass of water vapor  $(M_w)$  to total volume of the sample (V):

$$\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{v}} = \frac{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{w}}}{\mathbf{v}} \tag{2}$$

$$dv = \left(\frac{\gamma}{1-\gamma}\right) \left(\frac{1}{v_g}\right) \tag{3}$$

where  $V_g$  is saturated vapor and  $\gamma$  is the specific humidity.

Specific humidity (V) is the ratio of the mass of water vapor  $(M_w)$  to total mass of the moist air sample:

$$V = \frac{M_{w}}{M_{w} + M_{a}} \tag{4}$$

where  $M_a$  is the mass of dry air. Specific humidity is related to humidity ratio (W):

$$V = \frac{W}{W+1} \tag{5}$$

At low relative humidity,  $V \approx W$ .

Humidity ratio (W) is the ratio of the mass of water vapor in the air to the mass of dry air:

$$W = \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{w}} / \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{a}}$$
(6)

It can also be expressed as

W= 0.622 
$$\frac{\mathbf{P}_{w}}{\mathbf{P}-\mathbf{P}_{w}}$$
, where  $\mathbf{P}_{w} = \mathbf{\Phi}\mathbf{P}_{ws}$  (7)

Dew point temperature is another metric used to assess humidity. It is defined as "temperature of moist air saturated at pressure P with the same humidity ratio W as that of given sample of moist air."[9]

## **1.2 Relationship between humidity parameters**

The relationship between humidity parameters is illustrated for three different temperatures (i.e., 15°C, 20°C, and 25°C) in Figures 2, 3 and 4 respectively. At low RH, temperature is less important. As shown in the figures, the slope of each curve differs for each temperature and RH. Absolute humidity is inversely proportional to specific humidity.



Figure 2: Relationship between relative humidity and humidity ratio



Figure 3: Relationship between relative humidity and specific humidity



Figure 4: Relationship between relative humidity and absolute humidity

## **1.3 Objectives**

The objectives of this study are to review the effects of low humidity on health, comfort and indoor environmental quality (IEQ); and identify papers for case studies in the different categories. A detailed survey of the technical literature to determine effects of low humidity in occupied buildings was conducted. The survey focused on health, comfort, and IEQ aspects of low humidity.

## **1.4 Literature review process**

This report discusses the effects of low humidity in occupied buildings. It focuses on studies that have appeared in the technical literature, beginning with Sterling et al. [6] until studies in 2015. A few studies prior to 1985 are included due to the importance of the data and referencing of the data by current literature.

Literature review search was conducted to find relevant literature using keyword and citation searches. Keywords, as shown in Table 1, were combined with "low humidity" and "dry air." For citation searches, important papers were identified (Table 2). Databases such as PubMed, Scopus, and Google Scholar were searched. Keyword combinations used are shown in Table 2.

Several approaches were used to conduct an exhaustive search. One method was to search references of retrieved articles, determine which articles were relevant, find those, read their references, and repeat the process until no new articles were identified.

The papers were sorted and placed in folders for various categories (i.e., health, comfort, and IEQ) and subcategories. When searches were completed, the list of references was shared with experts in the field to detect any missing articles, and additional references were added to the database.

#### Table 1: Keyword search terms

Category	Search terms		
Comfort	Low humidity, Impact, Comfort, Skin Dryness, Thermal comfort, Comfort, Eye Irritation, Static Electricity, Low Moisture, Occupied Building, Home, School, Hospital, Indoor Environment, Humidity Ratio, Water Loss, Absolute Humidity		
Health	Health Effects, Bacteria, Virus, Influenza, Pneumonia, Asthma, Allergy, Mites, Infections, Respiratory Infections, Fungi, Allergic, Rhinitis, Physiological Effects, Eukaryote, Eukarya, Fungal, Metagenomics, Microbes, Microbial, Microbiota, Microbiome, 16 S RNA, Disease Transmission		
IEQ	Bioaerosol, Ozone Generation, Particulate Level, Particulate Generation		
Population	Adolescents (<18), Adults, Adults over 65 old, Young, Elderly		

When data collection was completed, obviously irrelevant articles were identified and discarded. Discarded articles included studies that focused only on high humidity, studies that did not provide data for RH less than 40%, or studies that were conducted on non-human subjects (except for disease transmission). Then, determination was made as to which of the remaining articles were relevant. The criteria for selecting relevant articles included use of control group, study occurrence within a desired year range, measurements and reporting of temperature and RH, use of human subjects, and study of low humidity ( $RH \le 40\%$ ). The articles were classified as literature review, experiments, or modeling. The type of data and the process used were also documented. Tables were generated for recorded data for each article, including variables such as humidity level or percentage, temperature, location, year, country, age, and data analysis procedures as well as the types of experimental controls, and other data that helped track the extraction of research outcomes.

Papers were classified according to the following factors that affect building occupants:

- Health: asthma, allergies, bacteria, influenza, mite, pneumonia, virus
- Comfort: eye irritation, skin dryness, thermal comfort, static electricity
- Indoor environment quality: indoor air quality (IAQ), ozone generation,

particulate generation, particulate level.

Category	Subcategory	Key papers	Papers found				
Comfort	Eye irritation	McCulley et al. [10]	Abelson et al. [11], Abusharha and Ian Pearce [12], Arciniega et al. [13], Borchman et al. [14], González-García et al. [15], Mathers and Daley [16], Mathers et al. [17], McCulley et al. [18], Ousler et al. [19], Tomlinson et al. [20], Viso et al. [21]				
	Skin dryness	Sunwoo et al. [22]	Alikhan et al. [23], Andrasko and Schoessler [24], Chou et al. [25], Hashiguchi and Tochihara [26], Hurlow and Bliss [27], Llamas- Velasco and García-Díez [28], Mercke [29], Su et al. [30], Wan et al. [31]				
	Skin dryness	Reinikainen et al. [32]	Andersson et al. [33], Angelon-Gaetz et al. [34], Bakke [35], Fang et al. [36], Gavhed and Toomingas [37], Höppe [38], Huang et al. [39], Mendell and Mirer [40], Nguyen et al. [41], Nordström et al. [42], Reinikainen et al. [43], Wang et al. [44]				
	Thermal Comfort	Berglund et al. [45]	Atmaca and Yigit [46], Backman and Haghighat [47], Chen and Horton [48], Chinevere et al. [49], Fischer et al. [50], Fischer and Bayer [51], Ho and Young [52], Howell [53], Khodakarami et al. [54], Khodakarami and Nasrollahi [55], Lück [56], Olesen and Parsons[57], Olesen et al. [58], Olesen [59], Palonen et al. [60], Simonson et al. [61], Skoog [62]				
Health	Asthma	Bundgaard et al. [63]	Anderson et al. [64], Bethel et al. [65], Hayes et al. [66], McFadden and Gilbert [67], Pavilonis [68], Singh et al. [69], Soter et al. [70]				
	Asthma	Strauss et al. [71]	Douglas et al. [72], Gilbert et al. [73], Noviski et al. [74], Stone et al. [75], Strauss et al. [76], Thomachot et al. [77]				
	Bacteria	Dunklin et al. [78]	Awad [79], Bateman et al. [80], Berendt [81], Cox [82], Ehrlich et al. [83], Ko et al. [84], Lester [85], McDade [86], Songer [87], Tang [88], Wathes et al. [89], Won and Ross [90], Wright et al. [91]				
	Influenza	Shaman et al. [92]	Airoldi and Litsky [93], Barreca and Shimshack [94], De la Noue et al. [95], Huang et al. [96], Koep et al. [97], Lowen et al. [98] Schaffer et al. [99], Shaman and Kohn [100], Shaman [101], Yang and Marr [102]				

### Table 2: List of papers that were identified

	Mite	Howieson et al. [103]	Allinson and Hall [104], Arlian et al. [105], Arlian [106], Gunnarsen et al. [107], Harvie-Clark and Siddall [108], Hobday[109], Hobday [110], Howieson [111], Luczynska et al. [112], Pretlove et al. [113]
	Pneumonia	Theunissen et al. [114]	Cox [82], Hatch and Dimmick [115], Karim [116]
	Virus	Akers et al. [117]	Donaldson [118], Hermann et al. [119]
Population	Elderly	Chou et al. [120]	Alikhan et al. [23], Collins et al. [121], Diaz et al. [122], Garcia [123], Hashiguchi et al. [124], Hurlow and Bliss [27], Inbar et al. [125], Mäkinen et al. [126], Pfluger et al. [127], Rocklöv and Forsberg [128], Rudge [129], Salah et al. [130], Seyfarth et al. [131], White- Chu and Reddy [132]
IEQ	Ozone generation	Grøntoft. and Raychaudhuri [133]	Altimir et al. [134], Grøntoft [135], Nicolas et al.[136], Uhde and Salthammer [137], Vibenholt et al. [138], Weschler [139]
	Particulate generation	Hitzenberger et al. [140]	Airoldi and Litsky [93], Galadanci and Tijjani [141], Hänel [142], Kreisberg et al. [143], Li-Jones et al. [144], McMurry and Stulzenberg [145], Mølhave and Pedersen [146], Rood et al. [147]
	IAQ	Fang et al. [148]	Goyal et al. [149], Olesen [150], Schnell et al. [151] Šeduikyte and Paukštys [152], Skov et al. [153]
	IAQ	Nordström.et al. [42]	Fiedler et al. [154], Green [155], Hodgson [156] Norbäck et al. [157], Reinikainen [43], Reinkainen et al. [158], Skov et al.[159]
	IAQ	Wolkoff,et al. [160]	Bornehag et al. [161], Cain et al. [162], Fang et al. [163], Geving and Holme [164], Hersoug [165], Undin et al. [166], Mlakar and Strancar [167], Rani et al. [168], Weschler [139], Wilkins et al.[169], Woloszyn et al. [170]

#### **Case studies**

The papers selected as case studies for this report fit a majority of the desired criteria, and they generally showed more than one aspect. Number of selected papers are listed in Table 3. Theunissen et al. [112] showed bacteria (i.e., gram positive and gram negative) do not act the same in low or high humidity. Lowen et al. [171] studied influenza transmission. In terms of pathogen, there were two papers, one selected paper studied influenza and another paper studied pneumonia. These two papers were chosen for this report because they investigated very common pathogens and important for IEQ. Sunwoo et al. [22] was the only paper that studied the elderly, and studied

eyes, skin, and comfort, and this advantage made this paper a good choice. Reinikianen et al. [158] and Nordström et al. [42] had large number of subjects, and controlled humidity. Also they had questionnaires and assessed multiple factors regarding indoor health and comfort. Arlian et al. [172] implemented dehumidifying as a nonchemical way to reduce dust mites. Kaminsky et al. [173] compared asthmatic subjects and healthy subjects. Selected case studies are listed in Table 4.

Category	Keyword	Total number of	Number of selected papers
		papers found	
	Eye irritation	23	6
Comfort	Skin dryness	32	7
	Static electricity	6	3
	Thermal comfort	49	3
	Allergy	12	
	Mite	35	5
	Rhinitis	5	
Health	Asthma	36	7
	Respiratory effects	19	
	Bacteria	16	7
	Infection	7	
	Fungi	25	3
	Influenza	32	13
	Virus	52	
	Pneumonia	8	0
IEQ	IAQ	61	11
	Ozone generation	19	
	Particulate generation	26	0
	Particulate level	23	0
Population	Adolescent	3	2
	Elderly	32	2
		521	

Category	Selected paper		
Influenza/ Virus	Lowen et al. (2007)		
Elderly	Sunwoo et al. (2006)		
IAQ	Reinikainen et al. (1992)		
Eye/Skin	Nordström et al. (1994)		
Mite	Arlian et al. (2001)		
Bacteria	Theunissen et al. (1993)		
Asthma	Kaminsky et al. (1995)		

Table 4: Selected case studies

## **Chapter 2 - Case Studies**

#### 2.1 Sunwoo et al. (2006)

Sunwoo, Y., Chou, C., Takeshita, J., Murakami, M., and Tochihara, Y. (2006). Physiological and subjective responses to low relative humidity in young and elderly men. Journal of Physiological Anthropology, 25(3), 229-238.

#### Objective

Determine effects of low humidity on people's eyes, skin, and mucous membranes, and determine whether these effects vary according to age.

#### **Test conditions**

In order to determine the effects of age on response to low humidity, eight young (mean age=21.7 years) and eight elderly men (mean age=71.7 years) were selected for the study. The subjects wore standardized clothing and sat in a pretest room for 50 minutes which had humidity of 50% and temperature of 25°C for all tests. Initial measurements such as weight and body temperature were taken and then, the subjects were transferred to a test room at 25°C temperature, and RH of 10%, 30% or 50%, for 180 minutes. The subjects were asked about their response to thermal, dryness and comfort sensations with the help of a rating scale. Saccharin clearance time (SCT) was measured to understand low humidity effects on mucous membrane and blinking frequency for eye dryness. Sebum level recovery, transpidermal water loss (TEWL), hydration state for face and hands, and mean skin temperature were used to determine the effects on skin. In addition to these measurements, the subjects were asked regarding thermal comfort and feeling of dryness.

#### Results

An undesirably high SCT was found in the elderly group at humidity of 10%. For SCT, which is a measure of mucocillary clearance, RH did not affect the young men or elderly men at

30% and 50% RH. In addition, time and RH did not significantly influence the perception of nasal dryness for the young or elderly subjects. In general subjects in the young group felt drier throat at RH of 10%, but the conditions did not strongly impact the sensation of skin dryness for all subjects.

The young group demonstrated an increase in blinking frequency between pre-test room and tests at 10% and 30% RH. For eye dryness, the young men reported drier eyes than the elderly group even though blinking frequency was identical. Hydration state for the face was lower for both groups at 10% and 30% RH compared to the hydration at 50% RH. Similarly, hand hydration was lower at 10% for both groups. Researchers found higher TEWL on the face for the young and elderly groups, although age did not strongly affect TEWL. The largest changes in TEWL occurred at the beginning of the test, in the first 30 minutes, but after that it was mostly constant. Based on a thermal comfort surveys, the subjects did not perceive dryness on faces and hands in all test conditions. At low humidity (10% and 30% RH) only the initial change from the pretest humidity to room humidity affected thermal comfort.

#### Discussion

This study by Sunwoo et al. [22] utilized unique testing conditions, including three RHs and test subjects of approximately 50 years old. Many studies do not consider elderly subjects, making this inclusion advantageous to the study. In addition, the authors considered parameters related to mucous membranes, eyes, and skin. The strength of the study also includes the wide range of parameters and unique ages of subjects. However, limitations of the study include the small sample size of subjects (N = 8) and limited exposure time of 3 hours when, in reality building occupants may be exposed to low RH over days or months. Although the authors measured multiple parameters, it is not clear how those parameters directly link to mucous, eye dryness, and skin dryness. For example, blinking frequency was used to determine eye dryness. Additional

study could determine how a subject's vision changes with low humidity, and what adaptations or problems may occur over time.

Results indicated that eye dryness may occur at 10%-30% RH. Moreover, SCT was higher for elderly men at 10% RH, possibly indicating reduced mucous transport and leaving subjects more at risk for respiratory infections. In addition, some indications of skin dryness were evident at 10% and 30% RH compared to 50% RH. For all test cases, 50% RH was very comfortable but subjects experienced effects below 50% RH. For building conditions, if possible 50% RH is a good target.

A majority of the behavior related to mucous membrane, eye, and skin dryness for subjects was similar in the elderly and young subjects for 3 hours low humidity exposure. However, the elderly subjects had a harder time sensing dryness. Elderly patients may be unable to realize dry conditions. This lack of sensitivity should be considered for hospitals and nursing homes. The human body seems to adapt partially for skin dryness, at lower RH, future study could determine if it continues long-term. A long- term study of effects of low RH on elderly subjects, including physiological health and illness, would be beneficial in order to draw stronger conclusions related to indoor conditions in hospitals and skilled nursing facilities.

#### **2.2 Reinikainen et al. (1992)**

Reinikainen, L. M., Jaakkola, J. J., and Seppänen, O. (1992). The effect of air humidification on symptoms and perception of indoor air quality in office workers: a sixperiod cross-over trial. Archives of Environmental Health, 47(1), 8-15.

#### Objective

Study the effects of air humidification on dryness of the skin and mucosa, on allergic and asthmatic reactions and perception of indoor air quality.

#### **Test conditions**

The researchers surveyed office workers regarding perceptions of low humidity. Responses from 290 subjects (148 males and 142 female) were drawn from 362 office workers in a building in Helsinki, Finland. The study was conducted in winter. The building had two similar wings: one used a steam humidifier to maintain RH in the range of 30% - 40%, and the other wing used only natural conditions with a humidity range of 20%-30%. Due to the warm outdoor weather conditions, the humidity was higher than expected. Indoor air temperature ranged from 21.3°C to 23.9 °C during the humidified period and was 0.5°C higher than the reference phase without supplemental humidification. In the humidified wing, RH was 30%-35%. The two wings had different humidities for three weeks but equal humidities during the last week of the study. The study was conducted as a six-week cross-over trial. No supplemental humidification was added during the first week of the study. The humidifiers were switched on and off during the weekend, so wing B had humidification during the second week of the study and wing A used natural nonhumidified conditions. Each wing experienced three weeks with humidification and three weeks without humidification. None of the subjects knew the time of alteration, so it was a blind trial. Each subject recorded his/her daily perception of indoor air and symptoms.

#### Results

Seventy-two percent of the workers in the study experienced humidified and nonhumidified conditions and recorded the daily diary at least for two weeks. Symptoms are shown in Table 5. Allergic and asthmatic symptoms were less common when using humidifier although the decrease in asthma scores was not statistically significant. Single symptoms of the dryness score were observed less often in the humidified phase than the reference phase (non-humidified period), with the exceptions of nasal and throat dryness. For mean general symptoms, no considerable differences were observed for headache, weakness, nausea and lethargy. Conversely, sensation of dryness was much more common in the non-humidified phase, but perception of stuffy air increased significantly with humidification (Table 5).

Health Parameters	Symptoms	Humidification	Reference	
		phase	Phase	
Dryness symptom	Skin symptoms	0.38	0.42	
	Eye symptoms	0.35	0.39	
	Nasal dryness	0.49	0.48	
	Pharyngeal dryness	0.26	0.30	
Allergic reactions	Nasal congestion	0.36	0.39	
	Nasal excretion	0.15	0.17	
	Sneezing	0.17	0.16	
	Eye symptoms (as above)			
Asthma symptom	Cough	0.08	0.10	
	Wheezing	0.01	0.02	
	Breathlessness	0.02	0.03	
General symptom	Headache	0.15	0.14	
	Lethargy	0.13	0.13	
	Weakness	0.02	0.03	
	Nausea	0.03	0.03	
Perception of indoor air	Sensation of dryness	3.35	3.43	
quality	Unpleasant odor	0.31	0.27	
	Stuffiness	0.74	0.62	
	Dustiness	0.46	0.50	
	Draft	0.47	0.50	

Table 5: Means of health scores used in the experiment. Data from Reinikainen et al. 1992 [158]

#### Discussion

This study investigated the effects of humidification on symptoms of sick building syndrome (SBS). The authors provided a case study of office workers to investigate the effects of low humidity on these symptoms. They stated that proper humidification can positively affect human health factors such as dryness of skin and mucosa, allergic reactions and the sensation of dryness. Skin dryness, eye dryness stuffiness and allergic symptoms showed the most significant differences between humidified and non-humidified environments. Increased skin and eye dryness was observed for the non-humidified wing compared to the humidified wing and a decrease in the allergic reaction score was observed for the humidified wing. Moreover, in the humidified wing the air was perceived to be stuffier. In contrast, no statistical differences were evident in nasal dryness and pharyngeal dryness, asthma scores, odor or draft perception between the two wings. Daily assessment of the feeling of dryness revealed that people did not feel strong differences. Based on results of this study 20%-30% RH is acceptable for many people.

The strength of this study is that it included a large number of subjects thereby providing a good sample size for statistical analyses. In addition, authors studied multiple health factors which is helpful. One limitation of the study was the lack of control of the office environment for the non-humidified period control. Due to the unseasonably warm temperature for winter, the nonhumidified space humidity approached humidified section humidity. In this study the researchers surveyed the subjects about 21 symptoms. The survey results were added up to provide composite dryness, allergic, asthma and perception of indoor air quality scores. However, the scales differed and, although perception of indoor air quality is statistically meaningful, how people perceive air quality differs. In addition, the subjects were exposed to this condition for one week, but the researchers did not include time as a variable. For example, they did not compare first day to last day. Future work could investigate how people adapt to the new conditions. Because the Scandinavian climate often experiences indoor conditions of 10%-20% RH, it would be interesting to repeat the test on a different population.

In conclusion, although the experiment occurred during a mild winter and humidity conditions were the same in the last week of the study because the weather was warm, the factors mentioned above led to the conclusions that dryness symptoms can occur when indoor RH is 20% - 30% and that skin and mucosa of the eye and respiratory tract are affected by dry air. Results showed that a drawback of increased humidification is the feeling of stuffy air; however, the effects on the office workers seemed modest.

#### 2.3 Lowen et al. (2007)

Lowen, A. C., Mubareka, S., Steel, J., and Palese, P. (2007). Influenza virus transmission is dependent on relative humidity and temperature. PLoS Pathogens, 3(10), e151.

Lowen, A. C., and Steel, J. (2014). Roles of humidity and temperature in shaping influenza seasonality. Journal of Virology, 88(14), 7692-7695.

#### Objective

Study the effect of humidity on virus influenza transmission with a guinea pig model

#### **Test conditions**

Researchers used a guinea pig model to study influenza transmission. Tests were conducted at three temperatures (i.e. 5°C, 20°C and 30°C) and five relative humidities (i.e.,20%, 35%, 50%, 65% and 80% RH). Four of eight guinea pigs were infected by the influenza virus, the remaining exposed pigs were placed in an environmental chamber separate from the infected pigs. The only way for transmission of influenza virus was through air flow since direct contact between animals was not permitted. Four possible instances of transmission at each temperature and humidity condition were possible, a transmission rate of 0% meant no transmission (0 out of 4 exposed guinea pigs were infected), and a transmission rate of 100% meant all four exposed guinea pigs were infected with influenza.

#### Results

The behavior of the guinea pigs did not change at different RHs. When the temperature changed from 5°C to 20°C, they also did not act differently; however, when the temperature rose to 30°C, the authors observed that the guinea pigs "consumed more water and seemed to be more lethargic." No obvious symptoms of diseases were observed in the guinea pigs. At a room temperature of 20°C, influenza transmission rates were high (75%-100%) at 20% RH and 35% RH. At 50% humidity, transmission rates dropped to 25%. As RH increased to 65% and 80%, influenza transmission rates were 75% and 0%, respectively. Lower transmission rates (0-25%) were found at an intermediate RH (50%) and very high RH (80%). Regarding the effects of temperature, at 5°C transmission rates were higher than at 20°C. However no transmission occurred at 30°C, although tests were only conducted at 35% RH.

Due to the temperature dependence of influenza transmission and interest in absolute humidity in the field, Lowen and Steel (2014) converted the data from RH to absolute humidity. They hypothesized that absolute humidity is a better metric than RH, because increased transmission was observed at 5°C. They hypothesized that absolute humidity is more important for influenza transmission. Saturation pressure, and subsequent relative humidity, changes with temperature while absolute humidity is the mass of water per unit volume of air, and it is not dependent on temperature. The researchers reanalyzed the data, and results showed no significant relationship between absolute humidity and virus transmission. For example, at an absolute humidity of 6 g/m<sup>3</sup> and 11 g/m<sup>3</sup> influenza transmission rates of 0-100% were plotted. At high absolute humidities (20-25 g/m<sup>3</sup>), no transmission occurred, but that corresponded to a temperature of 30°C (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Virus transmission in guinea pigs changes with humidity and temperature. Data from Lowen et al (2007) [174]. The numbers near each symbol shows the number of replication in experiment.

#### Discussion

As shown in the experiment, cold temperature and low humidity increases influenza transmission. The authors suggested that mid-range of humidity at room temperature results in decreased influenza transmission. One advantage of this study is that a large range of various environmental conditions was tested. However, the limited number of guinea pigs did not create a large sample size, and, as a result, only four possible transmissions occurred. A unique advantage of this experiment is that the researchers considered transmission of influenza, not only the viability of viruses. However, the study also contained weaknesses. For example, the researchers focused on airborne viruses, but many other methods for virus transmission are available in nature. In addition to the air, influenza virus may be transmitted among humans by direct contact with infected individuals or contaminated objects. Also, this experiment was not conducted on people, so the results must be generalized to human influenza transmission and there is not a lot of data on each combination

Authors concluded that midrange humidity (50% RH) at room temperature reduces influenza transmission. The epidemic influenza must be minimized in hospitals or nursing facilities, and humidifying to midrange humidity could be one of the easiest ways to prevent the spread of influenza. Indoor air temperatures at 20°C and humidity around 50% RH may reduce the airborne spread of influenza. This is especially important in winter, since RH decreases, with the use heating systems. Lack of virus transmission at 80% RH was surprising based on other studies.

#### 2.4 Theunissen et al. (1993)

Theunissen, H. J., Lemmens-den Toom, N. A., Burggraaf, A., Stolz, E., and Michel, M. F. (1993). Influence of temperature and relative humidity on the survival of Chlamydia pneumoniae in aerosols. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 59(8), 2589-2593.

#### Objective

Study the influence of temperature and relative humidity on the survival of aerosolized *Chlamydia pneumonia* 

#### **Test conditions**

Researchers aerosolized *C. pneumonia* into an environmental chamber. Air samples were taken 30 seconds after aerosolization and then every minute until 5.5 minutes. Temperatures used for this experiments were 8.5°C, 15°C, 25°C and 35°C, and three RH levels, 5%, 50%, 95%, were tested at each temperature. Survival of *C. pneumonia* was studied at these temperatures and relative humidities.

#### Results

For *C. pneumonia*, in the first 30 seconds after aerosolization there was a rapid, order-ofmagnitude decrease in percent of viable. As time increased, the percent viable continued to decrease, but at a more gradual rate. The optimal range of temperature and humidity for bacteria survival was shown to be 15-25°C and 95%, respectively, since those cases had the highest survival fractions. Results showed that *C. pneumoniae* can persist in aerosols. Bacteria viability at 95% RH was higher than at 50% RH. The result at 8.5°C was similar to 15°C, 95% RH. Decline in the first 30 seconds of aerosolization was the sharpest at all humidities. In 8.5°C that both 50 and 95 % RH the results had very similar trends. Maximum survival occurred at temperatures of 15°C and 25°C but no great differences were observed between survivability at 15°C and 25°C. The minimum survival rate for 50% RH occurred at 35°C (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Survival of C pneumoniae at different temperatures and RH. The decline of infectious organisms number in aerosols are shown by the ratio of survival in microorganisms/67Ga. Data from Theunissen et al. (1993) [114]

#### Discussion

Factors such as RH, temperature, oxygen, UV radiation, and constituents of the aerosol and air were shown to affect the survival of microorganisms in aerosols. The time after aerosolization and the type of the microorganism are essential for determining the effects of each factor. Bacteria are classified based on their membranes, gram positive and gram negative. Gram negative bacteria, typically have higher lipid content, and because of different envelopes, gram negative bacteria survive better in dry cold air. However, gram positive bacteria live longer in humid cold air. Viruses with lipid membrane can survive better in low RH. Gram negative bacteria and lipidcontaining viruses show changes in their external phospholipid bilayer membranes in response to fluctuating humidity and temperature. Virus surfaces without lipid membrane react faster to low RH, thereby decreasing viability [175]. In this case, although C. pneumonia is classified as a gram negative bacteria, it can survive best in aerosols in humid air between 15°C and 25°C. This behavior is opposite of other gram negative bacteria, leading to the conclusion that its outer protein membrane is more coherent compared to other bacteria. Other structural components can also increase the rate of survival and it is not a general role for classification microorganism based on the gram positive and gram negative.

Dry air also plays a dramatic role in inactivation of *C. pneumonia* by removing structural water molecules decreased RH increases evaporation. The optimum temperature range for survival of *C. pneumonia* is 15-25°C and high RH. Time is important in this trend. This bacteria shows significant decrease in inactivation due to evaporation in low RH, where the membrane will react to this change and lipids' liquid crystalline state will change to gel state and leads to inactivation. A lipid membrane phase transition changes the gel state to irregular fluid (liquid crystal). However, the transfer is dependent on the temperature. Below this temperature it is in gel state and above

this temperature it converts to liquid crystal [176]. Time is important since in the first 30 seconds it shows a sharp and then gradual decrease in survival in 5 minutes.

This study included three ranges of RH and four separate temperatures which showed a wide range of environmental conditions. Time is an important factor. The authors showed the result for a time period of (0-5.5 minute). At 25°C and 15°C, survival declined to a steady state value, but for temperatures of 8.5°C and 35°C a steady state was not achieved, and more changes occurred over time. A very sharp change was observed in the first 30 seconds and then there was a gradual decline, but every case did not reach steady state after 5.5 minutes. The researchers sampled frequently, which is very helpful but percent of viability was stable and not a function of time in some environmental conditions.

Lowen et al. [171] studied the effect of RH on the transmission of influenza virus, and Theunissen et al. [114] focused on viability of *C. pneumonia* bacteria. These two experiments showed that the life cycle of many microorganisms which negatively affect human health are dependent on temperature and humidity. For influenza the midrange of humidity had the lowest transmission rate. In conclusion, indoor humidity levels are a key factor for pathogen viability and survival.

#### 2.5 Nordström et al. (1994)

Nordström, K., Norbäck, D., and Akselsson, R. (1994). Effect of air humidification on the sick building syndrome and perceived indoor air quality in hospitals: a four month longitudinal study. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 51(10), 683-688.

#### Objective

Study effects of humidity on sick building syndrome (SBS) and indoor quality in winter

#### **Test conditions**

This research studied 104 people who worked in two geriatric hospitals in Sweden. Four units in the hospital had never had air humidification prior to the experiment. In two of these units, air humidifiers were installed increasing the indoor RH to 40%-45%. Two other hospital units served as control groups, with no air humidification, and subsequent lower humidity (25-35% RH). The temperature in all units was 21-22°C and the study duration was for four months during the heating season. Before and after the experiment, symptoms and perceived indoor air were assessed. Researchers studied medical, dermal, and general symptoms using a standardized self-questionnaire. The researchers obtained measurements, such as humidity, temperature, static electricity (using a field meter and metal bracelet and a pen plotter for recording the charge), aerosols, microorganism, ventilation and volatile organic compounds (VOCs).

#### Results

Measurements showed that some parameters were affected and other parameters were not affected by humidification. No great differences in ages, duration of employment, proportion of smokers, and job categories were observed between humidified and non-humidified groups. The control group contained more people with asthma or hayfever. No changes in temperature, VOCs, or degree of ventilation were found as a result of humidification. In addition, not many differences in overall scores of SBS symptoms, asthma, and psychological scores were noted between the humidified and non-humidified groups. Relative humidity reached 40%-45% in humidified units. Before air humidification, employee complaints were due to dry air, static electricity, and stuffy air. After humidification, however complaints of static electricity and dry air decreased to 26% and 24%, respectively in the humidified groups compared to 55% and 37%, respectively, in the control group. Therefore humidification decreased the perception of dry air but it did not change sensation of unpleasant odor or stuffy air. Humidification did not have statistically significant effects on eyes, nose or skin dryness. Moreover, studies of supply water humidification showed no bacteria or viable molds from the water supply system. Also, in humidified units, prevalence of air symptoms such as throat dryness, mental fatigue, and cough were statistically lower than the control group (Table 6).

[]						
	Humidified Units		Control units			
	Incidence of (%)		Incidence of (%)			
Symptoms					P -Values	
	Decreased	Increased	Decreased	Increased		
	symptom	symptom	symptom	symptom		
General fatigue	20	13	35	8	NS	
Feeling heavy headed	34	7	12	16	0.05	
Headache	24	14	26	17	NS	
Nausea or dizziness	18	4	8	19	NS	
Difficulties in concentrating	14	14	15	12	NS	
Itching eyes	29	7	12	11	NS	
Irritated nose	20	10	12	16	NS	
Hoarse, dry throat	61	4	16	32	< 0.001	
Cough	28	4	17	25	0.005	
Dry facial skin	21	10	19	15	NS	
Itch of scalp or ear	7	14	12	12	NS	
Dry skin on the hands	11	18	16	36	NS	

Table 6: Changes of symptoms in humidified group and control group. Data from Nordström et al. (1994)[42]

#### Discussion

In this study, several factors changed as an effect of humidification and others did not changed significantly. This study, which considered a region that typically has dry winters stated that a range of 40%-60% RH is acceptable for buildings occupants. Other studies stated that mid-range humidity is a desirable range of humidity for health and comfort. The authors asserted that

high RH may cause mold, airborne bacteria, or microorganism growth and therefore, humidity must be controlled.

This experiment utilized a questionnaire and all subjects were humans with different perceptions of dryness or stuffiness. The Reinikainen et al. [158] case study, which was also in Scandinavian climate, studied the effect of humidification on health. Researchers observed a decrease in allergic reaction, skin dryness, eye dryness, and allergic symptoms as a result of humidification. Although the range of humidity in the study was 30%-35%, less humidified than the Nordström et al. [42] study, test subjects felt that indoor air was stuffier than indoor air in Nordström et al. [42] These two studies emphasize inconsistent impacts of humidification. One possible explanation for the inconsistency is that, the Reinikainen et al. [158] study contained fewer test subjects and the research time period was shorter (2 weeks versus 4 months). It is important because a human body characteristic might be to adapt to the new condition in longer time periods.

One strength of this study is that the researchers compared data from humidified units to data from a control group. In addition, the study had a good sample size (104 people) and an extended time period for the experiment (4 months). Moreover, researchers measured factors such as health and comfort. However, one of the weaknesses of this experiment was that subjects changed during the study period. Some of the subjects participated in December 1991 and some subjects began the study after humidification in April, potentially causing bias to responses and analysis.

Overall, the study by Nordström et al. (1994) showed that humidification affects the feeling of dryness and static electricity but does not affect eye, skin, or nose dryness. The conclusion can be made that humidification can change the indoor humidity but its effect is not extreme. Also, both of these studies were conducted on a Scandinavian population that encounters very dry air indoor and outdoor conditions during the heating season. Although humidification demonstrated some effects on the perception of dryness and indoor air quality, the effects were not that strong.

#### **2.6 Kaminsky et al. (1995)**

Kaminsky, D. A., Irvin, C. G., Gurka, D. A., Feldsien, D. C., Wagner, E. M., Liu, M. C., and Wenzel, S. E. (1995). Peripheral airways responsiveness to cool, dry air in normal and asthmatic individuals. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 152(6), 1784-1790.

#### Objective

Study the effects of cool, dry air in normal and asthmatic individuals.

#### **Test Conditions**

This study used 16 subjects, of which eight subjects were asthmatic with Exercised -Induced Bronchospasm (EIB) and eight subjects did not have asthma. Asthmatic subjects did not take any asthma medication 12 hours before visit. The experiments were conducted over the course of 4 days, and the maximum time between study days was 24 hours. For showing that subjects have asthmatic signs they conducted three different procedure. First, Spirometry, (uses a pneumothachograph- based system to measure forced expiratory volume (FEV), and a bronchial challenge test, which is a medical test used to assist in the diagnosis of asthma requiring the patient to breathes into nebulized methacholine or histamine were conducted on the first day of the study. On the second day, subjects performed an exercise challenge on a treadmill, and subjects experienced a cold, dry hyperpnea challenge on the third day. Each subject wore a nose clip and breathed cold, dry, air. Researchers used a wedged bronchoscope technique to examine the isolated lung, measuring peripheral resistance in warm humid air at 37°C with 100-1000 ml/min. The segmental challenge occurred in cool, dry air of 500-1000 ml/min in 22°C for 3 minutes, followed by a recovery period of 45 minutes.

#### Results

The asthmatic subjects showed a great maximal increase in peripheral resistance ( $R_p$ ) following cool, dry air. Also their baseline peripheral airways resistance correlated with airways hyperresponsiveness to exercise. The pressure generated in the lung periphery also demonstrated much more heterogeneous response to increasing flows in asthmatic subjects as compared to normal subjects. As flow decreased (pipe diameter), pressure drop increased to maintain the flow rate. The same happens in the lungs when the size of bronchial tubes changes. Asthmatic subjects responded to cold dry air differently in recovery and the base line period, but the healthy people showed almost no changes. Although normal subjects had no significant increase in their  $R_p$ , changes in  $R_p$  were observed at 3 min and 10 min. after the challenge (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Difference in peripheral resistance ( $R_p$ ) before and after cool, dry air challenge in asthmatic subjects. Data from Kaminsky et al.([173]

#### Discussion

This study showed that  $R_p$  in asthmatic subjects is much more at baseline than in normal subjects, since mildly asthmatic subjects have more severe airflow limitations compared to normal subjects. Asthmatic subjects had stronger reaction to dry air and were more susceptible. The strength of the study is that extensive testimony of asthmatic subjects was included, although the weaknesses of the study were that the authors investigated the procedures from the mechanism of asthma perspective and they did not consider RH conditions, it cannot be achieved from the study which range of humidity is considered to be dry or humid.

In conclusion, implications of this study for building occupants are important, especially for asthmatic subjects, since when  $R_p$  increase at baseline requires asthmatic subjects to be more careful about airflow in comparison to healthy people. In addition, an increase in  $R_p$  may causes chronic inflammation for asthmatic subjects. Therefore controlling airway can help improve the medical situation.

#### 2.7 Arlian et al. (2001)

Arlian, L. G., Neal, J. S., Morgan, M. S., Vyszenski-Moher, D. L., Rapp, C. M., and Alexander, A. K. (2001). Reducing relative humidity is a practical way to control dust mites and their allergens in homes in temperate Climates. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 107(1), 99-104.

#### Objective

Study controlling relative humidity as a method to control dust mites and their allergens in homes

#### **Test conditions**

This experiment took place in southwest Ohio, in a temperate climate from May 1998 to October 1999. Researchers studied dust mites and allergens in three sets of homes. The first group of 19 homes used a dehumidifier and air conditioning to keep the humidity level below 50%. The second group of 26 homes used only air conditioning. Throughout the study, windows were closed in the homes in these two groups. In the third group 26 homes used only windows for natural ventilation without any use of air conditioning or dehumidifiers. Dust samples were taken from couch, living room floor, and bedroom floor every 4-6 weeks. At the beginning of the study, no differences in the number of dust mites were noted in each home. The study was conducted over a 17 months periods. Outdoor RH average during the summer (June to September) of the first year and second year were 73.3% and 63.5%, respectively. Outdoor temperature ranged from 20°C to 25.9°C during summer and indoor temperature ranged from 22.2 °C to 25.3°C. Other conditions such as house cleaning were not altered.

#### Results

Buildings were monitored for temperature and RH. Houses that used windows for ventilation had higher summer RH than houses that used air conditioning with or without dehumidifier. The houses with air conditioning or air conditioning and a dehumidifiers, were grouped into two groups: one, one group had an average RH < 51%, and the second group had a RH >51%. The third group used only natural ventilation. All houses had an average indoor RH below 48% in the winter, but differences in the number of mites and allergens were apparent in the summer. At the beginning of the study, live mite count was  $401.2 \pm 124$  mites per gram of dust in homes with a low RH average. However, the number of allergens decreased significantly at the end of March 1999 it reached to  $8.2 \pm 2.6$  at the end of study in October 1999 when maintaining < 51% RH. But in two other houses, the number of mites increased reaching a seasonal peak (997.8±173.7 mites per gram) during the first summer season. In houses with low RH, the number of dust mites was 10 times lower compared to the humid houses. The number of

*Dermatophagoides farinae* was much more than *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* in houses in this study, proving that this species is more tolerant to dryness.

#### Discussion

This study investigated the effects of low humidity on dust mite survival. The authors suggested lowering humidity as a way to decrease the dust mite population in houses because dust mites depend on water from the air for survival. Results showed that 50% RH is a detrimental level for dust mites because the mites dehydrate at that low RH and reproduction is limited. Therefore when the RH level is reduced to below 50% in homes for long time there will be no significant number of mites and dust mite allergens which are harmful for allergic patients.

This method can utilize dehumidifiers in subtropical climates to improve the health of patients with dust mite sensitivity. This method can also be combined with regular vacuum cleaning in order to manage dust mite level in buildings. This study demonstrated some specific strengths. First of all, the experiment was conducted over the course of two years and over two humid summers, allowing researchers to regularly record the dead and live mite density every 4-6 weeks. Second, researchers used a scientific criteria for intentional selection of houses for the study, such as age, style, and construction of houses as well as types of heating.

However, this study also has limitations. For example, researchers did not consider dust mite levels inside mattresses and bedding, which is an important health issue since people can be exposed to dust mite allergens while they sleep. The most prominent places for dust mite breeding are mattresses, carpets and fabric furniture. Therefore reducing home RH below 50%, and replacing carpets with wood floors, can significantly reduce residential dust mite allergens. In addition to use of chemicals to control dust mites, carpet should be replaced with wood floor if lowering RH is not desirable.

## **Chapter 3 - Conclusions and Future Work**

The purpose of this review was to identify the influence of low humidity on health, comfort and IEQ using studies conducted over the past thirty years. Over 500 papers were identified to find relevant papers that included a control group and used RH below 40%. The reviewed research clearly demonstrated that low humidity has a variety of effects on health and comfort and no precise and defined border line exists for distinguishing acceptable low humidity. Acceptable low humidity levels depend on many factors such as building location, purpose, age of occupants, and climate. Due to the variety of effects, the building's purpose and occupants must be known in order to determine appropriate lower bounds on humidity, if any.

From a biological perspective, the behavior of microorganisms at low humidities is not identical. As discussed in Theunissen et al. [114], gram positive and gram negative bacteria do not behave identically in low or high humidities. Lowen et al. [171] defined an optimum range for humidity as approximately 50%. Virus transmission rates were high at humidities higher than 65% and below 35% RH, potentially impacting health. Evidence from Sunwoo et al. [22] showed that one of the health problems and discomfort caused by low humidity can be high SCT, for young people and elderly people, but time and RH did not significantly impact the perception of nasal dryness for both groups of subjects. Moreover, someone who suffers from respiratory disease such as allergies or asthma, as shown in Kaminsky et al. [173] and Reinikainen et al. [158], may experience breathing difficulties at low humidity. Therefore, serious consideration should be given to indoor air conditions, and the effects of low humidity.

The research cited above determined that although low humidity negatively affects health and comfort, low humidity also offers some benefits. An example is control of house dust mites by keeping indoor air dry. Finding natural, non-toxic ways to control household insect pests and allergens has always been a concern. Arlian et al. [170] showed that dry environments can prevent dust mites from regeneration. It may be advantageous to keep humidity below 50% in order to reduce dust mite populations.

In conclusion, low humidity has advantages and disadvantages depending on the application. However, additional research and testing is required to gain increased understanding of the influence of low humidity on health. This study analyzed various aspects of humidity, but new studies could be beneficial. Time is an important consideration when designing the studies since human beings can adapt to new conditions. Various ranges of time periods were observed in the mentioned case studies. For example, Arlian et al. [172] conducted an experiment for 18 months and the study duration for Nordström et al. [42] was 4 months. Reinikainen et al. [158] conducted an experiment for 6 weeks and Lowen et al. [171] conducted a transmission experiment for one week. The study by Kaminsky et al. [173] lasted for 4 days. The study by Sunwoo et al. [22] lasted for 230 minutes and the study by Theunissen et al. [114] lasted 5 minutes.

Each case study and corresponding results introduced in this report provides a guide to future research. Although a variety of cases showed the effects of humidity on mammals such as guinea pigs and healthy young people, very few studies have focused on elderly subjects. Therefore, directions for future research include changing the study location to places such as schools, as well as introducing new subjects or using subjects that already have respiratory problems in the real world (not in laboratories) and studying them at various levels of humidity. In addition, it is not yet clear how mechanisms acts for helping elderly in sensation of dryness. Therefore much research remains to be done on different subjects, such as adolescents, teenagers, or the elderly.

## References

[1] D.D. Biehler, G.L. Simon, The Great Indoors: Research frontiers on indoor environments as active political-ecological spaces, Progress in Human Geography 35 (2011) 172-192.

[2] L. Pérez-Lombard, J. Ortiz, C. Pout, A review on buildings energy consumption information, Energy and Buildings 40 (2008) 394-398.

[3] J.K. Peat, J. Dickerson, J. Li, Effects of damp and mould in the home on respiratory health: a review of the literature, Allergy 53 (1998) 120-128.

[4] R.E. Dales, R. Burnett, H. Zwanenburg, Adverse Health Effects Among Adults Exposed to Home Dampness and Molds1, 2, (1991).

[5] A. Saunders, J. Dugas, R. Tucker, M. Lambert, T. Noakes, The effects of different air velocities on heat storage and body temperature in humans cycling in a hot, humid environment, Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 183 (2005) 241-255.

[6] E. Sterling, A. Arundel, T. Sterling, Criteria for human exposure to humidity in occupied buildings, ASHRAE Transactions 91 (1985) 611-622.

[7] www.EIA.gov.March 2015, Preliminary data for 2014

[8] ASHRAE Handbook, Fundamentals: SI Edition. 2009, ASHRAE, Atlanta, ISBN–1933742550 (2009).

[9] Ashrae, A. N. S. I.. Standard 55-2004, Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineering, Atlanta, GA. (2004)

[10] J.P. McCulley, J.D. Aronowicz, E. Uchiyama, W.E. Shine, I.A. Butovich, Correlations in a change in aqueous tear evaporation with a change in relative humidity and the impact, American Journal of Ophthalmology 141 (2006) 758-760.

[11] M. Abelson, G. Ousler, L. Nally, T. Emory, Dry Eye Syndromes: Diagnosis, Clinical Trials and Pharmaceutical Treatment-'Improving Clinical Trials', Lacrimal Gland, Tear Film, and Dry Eye Syndromes 3, Springer2002, pp. 1079-1086.

[12] A.A. Abusharha, E.I. Pearce, The effect of low humidity on the human tear film, Cornea 32 (2013) 429-434.

[13] J.C. Arciniega, J.C. Wojtowicz, E.M. Mohamed, J.P. McCulley, Changes in the evaporation rate of tear film after digital expression of meibomian glands in patients with and without dry eye, Cornea 30 (2011) 843-847.

[14] D. Borchman, G.N. Foulks, M.C. Yappert, J. Mathews, K. Leake, J. Bell, Factors affecting evaporation rates of tear film components measured in vitro, Eye & Contact Lens 35 (2009) 32-37.

[15] M.J. González-García, A. González-Sáiz, B. De la Fuente, A. Morilla-Grasa, A. Mayo-Iscar, J. San-José, J. Feijó, M.E. Stern, M. Calonge, Exposure to a controlled adverse environment impairs the ocular surface of subjects with minimally symptomatic dry eye, Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science 48 (2007) 4026-4032.

[16] W.D. Mathers, T.E. Daley, Tear flow and evaporation in patients with and without dry eye, Ophthalmology 103 (1996) 664-669.

[17] W.D. Mathers, G. Binarao, M. Petroll, Ocular water evaporation and the dry eye: a new measuring device, Cornea 12 (1993) 335-340.

[18] J.P. McCulley, E. Uchiyama, J.D. Aronowicz, I.A. Butovich, Impact of evaporation on aqueous tear loss, Transactions of the American Ophthalmological Society 104 (2006) 121.

[19] G. Ousler, M. Abelson, L. Nally, D. Welch, J. Casavant, Evaluation of the time to "natural compensation" in normal and dry eye subject populations during exposure to a controlled adverse environment, Lacrimal gland, tear film, and dry eye syndromes 3, Springer2002, pp. 1057-1063.

[20] A. Tomlinson, L.C. Madden, P.A. Simmons, Effectiveness of dry eye therapy under conditions of environmental stress, Current Eye Research 38 (2013) 229-236.

[21] E. Viso, M.T. Rodriguez-Ares, F. Gude, Prevalence of and associated factors for dry eye in a Spanish adult population (the Salnes Eye Study), Ophthalmic Epidemiology 16 (2009) 15-21.

[22] Y. Sunwoo, C. Chou, J. Takeshita, M. Murakami, Y. Tochihara, Physiological and subjective responses to low relative humidity, Journal of Physiological Anthropology 25 (2006) 7-14.

[23] A. Alikhan, K.-P. Wilhelm, F.S. Alikhan, H.I. Maibach, Transepidermal water loss and aging, Textbook of Aging Skin, Springer2010, pp. 695-703.

[24] G. Andrasko, J. Schoessler, The effect of humidity on the dehydration of soft contact lenses on the eye, Int Contact Lens Clin 7 (1980) 30-33.

[25] T.-C. Chou, K.-H. Lin, H.-M. Sheu, S.-B. Su, C.-W. Lee, H.-R. Guo, T.-N. Wu, H.-Y. Chang, Alterations in health examination items and skin symptoms from exposure to ultra-low humidity, International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 80 (2007) 290-297.

[26] N. Hashiguchi, Y. Tochihara, Effects of low humidity and high air velocity in a heated room on physiological responses and thermal comfort after bathing: An experimental study, International Journal of Nursing Studies 46 (2009) 172-180.

[27] J. Hurlow, D.Z. Bliss, Dry skin in older adults, Geriatric Nursing 32 (2011) 257-262.

[28] M. Llamas-Velasco, A. García-Díez, Climatic change and skin: diagnostic and therapeutic challenges, Actas Dermo-Sifiliográficas (English Edition) 101 (2010) 401-410.
[29] U. Mercke, The influence of varying air humidity on mucociliary activity, Acta Otolaryngologica 79 (1975) 133-139.

[30] S.-B. Su, B.-J. Wang, C. Tai, H.-F. Chang, H.-R. Guo, Higher prevalence of dry symptoms in skin, eyes, nose and throat among workers in clean rooms with moderate humidity, Journal of Occupational Health 51 (2009) 364-369.

[31] J. Wan, K. Yang, W. Zhang, J. Zhang, A new method of determination of indoor temperature and relative humidity with consideration of human thermal comfort, Building and Environment 44 (2009) 411-417.

[32] L. Reinikainen, J. Jaakkola, Significance of humidity and temperature on skin and upper airway symptoms, Indoor Air 13 (2003) 344-352.

[33] K. Andersson, J. Bakke, O. Bjørseth, C.G. Bornehag, G. Clausen, J. Hongslo, M. Kjellman, S. Kjaergaard, F. Levy, L. Mølhave, TVOC and Health in Non-industrial Indoor Environments, Indoor Air 7 (1997) 78-91.

[34] K. Angelon-Gaetz, D. Richardson, D. Lipton, S. Marshall, B. Lamb, T. LoFrese, The effects of building-related factors on classroom relative humidity among North Carolina schools participating in the 'Free to Breathe, Free to Teach'study, Indoor Air (2015).

[35] J.V. Bakke, Indoor Environment in University Buildings. Assessment of subjective and objective parametres and outcomes, (2008).

[36] L. Fang, G. Clausen, P.O. Fanger, Impact of temperature and humidity on the perception of indoor air quality, Indoor Air 8 (1998) 80-90.

[37] D. Gavhed, A. Toomingas, Observed physical working conditions in a sample of call centres in Sweden and their relations to directives, recommendations and operators' comfort and symptoms, International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 37 (2007) 790-800.

[38] P. Höppe, I. Martinac, Indoor climate and air quality, International Journal of Biometeorology 42 (1998) 1-7.

[39] H. Huang, S. Kato, R. Hu, Y. Ishida, Development of new indices to assess the contribution of moisture sources to indoor humidity and application to optimization design: proposal of CRI (H) and a transient simulation for the prediction of indoor humidity, Building and Environment 46 (2011) 1817-1826.

[40] M.J. Mendell, A. Mirer, Indoor thermal factors and symptoms in office workers: findings from the US EPA BASE study, Indoor Air 19 (2009) 291-302.

[41] J.L. Nguyen, J. Schwartz, D.W. Dockery, The relationship between indoor and outdoor temperature, apparent temperature, relative humidity, and absolute humidity, Indoor Air 24 (2014) 103-112.

[42] K. Nordström, D. Norbäck, R. Akselsson, Effect of air humidification on the sick building syndrome and perceived indoor air quality in hospitals: a four month longitudinal study, Occupational and Environmental Medicine 51 (1994) 683-688.

[43] L.M. Reinikainen, J.J. Jaakkola, O.P. Heinonen, The effect of air humidification on different symptoms in office workers—An epidemiologic study, Environment International 17 (1991) 243-250.

[44] N. Wang, J. Zhang, X. Xia, Desiccant wheel thermal performance modeling for indoor humidity optimal control, Applied Energy 112 (2013) 999-1005.

[45] L.G. Berglund, Comfort and humidity, ASHRAE Journal 40 (1998) 35.

[46] I. Atmaca, A. Yigit, Predicting the effect of relative humidity on skin temperature and skin wettedness, Journal of Thermal Biology 31 (2006) 442-452.

[47] H. Backman, F. Haghighat, Indoor-air quality and ocular discomfort, Journal of the American Optometric Association 70 (1999) 309-316.

[48] W. Chen, D. Horton, Heat and water loss from the airways and exercise-induced asthma, Respiration 34 (1977) 305-313.

[49] T.D. Chinevere, B.S. Cadarette, D.A. Goodman, B.R. Ely, S.N. Cheuvront, M.N. Sawka, Efficacy of body ventilation system for reducing strain in warm and hot climates, European Journal of Applied Physiology 103 (2008) 307-314.

[50] J. Fischer, P. Kirk Mescher, P. Ben Elkin, S.M. McCune, J. Gresham, High-performance schools, ASHRAE Journal 49 (2007) 30-46.

[51] J.C. Fischer, C.W. Bayer, Humidity control in school facilities, Energy 30 (2003) 606.

[52] J.-E. Ho, H.-T. Young, Study of the flow field and scalar transport of indoor ventilating space under the impact of Coanda vortex, Journal of Marine Science and Technology 15 (2007) 82-88.

[53] W. Howell, Humidity and comfort, Science 73 (1931) 453-455.

[54] J. Khodakarami, I. Knight, N. Nasrollahi, Reducing the demands of heating and cooling in Iranian hospitals, Renewable Energy 34 (2009) 1162-1168.

[55] J. Khodakarami, N. Nasrollahi, Thermal comfort in hospitals–A literature review, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 16 (2012) 4071-4077.

[56] K. Lück, Energy efficient building services for tempering performance-oriented interior spaces–A literature review, Journal of Cleaner Production 22 (2012) 1-10.

[57] B.W. Olesen, K. Parsons, Introduction to thermal comfort standards and to the proposed new version of EN ISO 7730, Energy and Buildings 34 (2002) 537-548.

[58] B. Olesen, R.d. Dear, G.S. Brager, Status and new developments in indoor thermal environmental standards, (2001) 1-12.

[59] B.W. Olesen, International standards for the indoor environment, Indoor Air 14 (2004) 18-26.

[60] J. Palonen, O. Seppänen, J.J. Jaakkola, The effects of air temperature and relative humidity on thermal comfort in the office environment, Indoor Air 3 (1993) 391-397.

[61] C.J. Simonson, M. Salonvaara, T. Ojanen, Moisture content of indoor air and structures in buildings with vapor permeable envelopes, Performance of Exterior Envelopes of Whole Buildings VIII (2001).

[62] J. Skoog, Relative air humidity in hospital wards–user perception and technical consequences, Indoor and Built Environment 15 (2006) 93-97.

[63] A. Bundgaard, T. Ingemann-Hansen, A. Schmidt, J. Halkjaer-Kristensen, Influence of temperature and relative humidity of inhaled gas on exercise-induced asthma, European Journal of Respiratory Diseases 63 (1982) 239-244.

[64] S.D. Anderson, E. Daviskas, The mechanism of exercise-induced asthma is..., Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 106 (2000) 453-459.

[65] R.A. Bethel, D. Sheppard, J. Epstein, E. Tam, J. Nadel, H.A. Boushey, Interaction of sulfur dioxide and dry cold air in causing bronchoconstriction in asthmatic subjects, Journal of Applied Physiology 57 (1984) 419-423.

[66] D. Hayes Jr, M.A. Jhaveri, D.M. Mannino, H. Strawbridge, J. Temprano, The effect of mold sensitization and humidity upon allergic asthma, The Clinical Respiratory Journal 7 (2013) 135-144.

[67] E. McFadden Jr, I.A. Gilbert, Exercise-induced asthma, New England Journal of Medicine 330 (1994) 1362-1367.

[68] B.T. Pavilonis, Rural air quality and respiratory health, (2012).

[69] M. Singh, A. Bara, P.G. Gibson, Humidity control for chronic asthma, The Cochrane Library (2002).

[70] N.A. Soter, F. Austen, Urticaria, angioedema, and mediator release in humans in response to physical environmental stimuli, Federation proceedings, 1977, pp. 1736-1741.

[71] E. Gubéran, V. Dang, P. Sweetnam, [Does room air humidification prevent respiratory diseases in winter? An epidemiologic study on 1321 office workers], Schweizerische medizinische Wochenschrift 108 (1978) 827-831.

[72] N. Douglas, D. White, J. Weil, C. Zwillich, Effect of breathing route on ventilation and ventilatory drive, Respiration Rhysiology 51 (1983) 209-218.

[73] I.A. Gilbert, E. McFadden Jr, Airway cooling and rewarming. The second reaction sequence in exercise-induced asthma, Journal of Clinical Investigation 90 (1992) 699.

[74] N. Noviski, E. Bar-Yishay, I. Gur, S. Godfrey, Exercise intensity determines and climatic conditions modify the severity of exercise-induced asthma, Am Rev Respir Dis 136 (1987) 592-594.

[75] D.R. Stone, J.B. Downs, W.L. Paul, H.M. Perkins, Adult body temperature and heated humidification of anesthetic gases during general anesthesia, Anesthesia & Analgesia 60 (1981) 736-741.

[76] E.C. Deal, E. McFadden, R. Ingram, R.H. Strauss, J.J. Jaeger, Role of respiratory heat exchange in production of exercise-induced asthma, Journal of Applied Physiology 46 (1979) 467-475.

[77] L. Thomachot, X. Viviand, S. Arnaud, R. Vialet, J. Albanese, C. Martin, Preservation of humidity and heat of respiratory gases in spontaneously breathing, tracheostomized patients, Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 42 (1998) 841-844.

[78] E.W. Dunklin, T.T. Puck, The lethal effect of relative humidity on air-borne bacteria, Journal of Experimental Medicine 87 (1948) 87-101.

[79] A.H.A. Awad, Environmental Study in Subway Metro Stations in Cairo, Egypt, Journal of Occupational Health 44 (2002) 112-118.

[80] J. Bateman, P.A. McCaffrey, R. O'Connor, G. Monk, Relative Humidity and the Killing of Bacteria The Survival of Damp Serratia marcescens in Air, Applied microbiology 9 (1961) 567-571.

[81] R.F. Berendt, Survival of Legionella pneumophila in aerosols: effect of relative humidity, Journal of Infectious Diseases 141 (1980) 689-689.

[82] C. Cox, The survival of Escherichia coli in nitrogen atmospheres under changing conditions of relative humidity, Journal of General Microbiology 45 (1966) 283-288.

[83] P.R. Ehrlich, A.H. Ehrlich, Population, resources, environment. Issues in human ecology, Population, resources, environment. Issues in human ecology. (1970).

[84] G. Ko, M. First, H. Burge, Influence of relative humidity on particle size and UV sensitivity of Serratia marcescens and Mycobacterium bovis BCG aerosols, Tubercle and Lung Disease 80 (2000) 217-228.

[85] W. Lester, The influence of relative humidity on the infectivity of air-borne influenza A virus (PR8 strain), Journal of Experimental Medicine 88 (1948) 361-368.

[86] J.J. McDade, L.B. Hall, A.R. Street, An experimental method to measure the influence of environmental factors on the viability and the pathogenicity of stapeylococcus aubeus, American Journal of Epidemiology 77 (1963) 98-108.

[87] J.R. Songer, Influence of relative humidity on the survival of some airborne viruses, Applied Microbiology 15 (1967) 35-42.

[88] J.W. Tang, The effect of environmental parameters on the survival of airborne infectious agents, Journal of the Royal Society Interface (2009) rsif20090227.

[89] C. Wathes, K. Howard, A. Webster, The survival of Escherichia coli in an aerosol at air temperatures of 15 and 30 C and a range of humidities, Journal of Hygiene 97 (1986) 489-496.

[90] W.D. Won, H. Ross, Effect of diluent and relative humidity on apparent viability of airborne Pasteurella pestis, Applied Microbiology 14 (1966) 742-745.

[91] D. Wright, G. Bailey, M. Hatch, Role of relative humidity in the survival of airborne Mycoplasma pneumoniae, Journal of Bacteriology 96 (1968) 970-974.

[92] J. Shaman, E. Goldstein, M. Lipsitch, Absolute humidity and pandemic versus epidemic influenza, American Journal of Epidemiology 173 (2011) 127-135.

[93] T. Airoldi, W. Litsky, Factors contributing to the microbial contamination of cold-water humidifiers, American Journal of Medical Technology 38 (1972) 491-495.

[94] A.I. Barreca, J.P. Shimshack, Absolute humidity, temperature, and influenza mortality: 30 years of county-level evidence from the United States, American Journal of Epidemiology 176 (2012) S114-S122.

[95] A.C. de la Noue, M. Estienney, S. Aho, J.-M. Perrier-Cornet, A. de Rougemont, P. Pothier, P. Gervais, G. Belliot, Absolute humidity influences the seasonal persistence and infectivity of human norovirus, Applied and Environmental Microbiology (2014) AEM. 01871-01814.

[96] C. Huang, C. Chu, X. Wang, A.G. Barnett, Unusually cold and dry winters increase mortality in Australia, Environmental Research 136 (2015) 1-7.

[97] T.H. Koep, F.T. Enders, C. Pierret, S.C. Ekker, D. Krageschmidt, K.L. Neff, M. Lipsitch, J. Shaman, W.C. Huskins, Predictors of indoor absolute humidity and estimated effects on influenza virus survival in grade schools, BMC infectious diseases 13 (2013) 71.

[98] A.C. Lowen, J. Steel, S. Mubareka, P. Palese, High temperature (30 C) blocks aerosol but not contact transmission of influenza virus, Journal of Virology 82 (2008) 5650-5652.

[99] F. Schaffer, M. Soergel, D. Straube, Survival of airborne influenza virus: effects of propagating host, relative humidity, and composition of spray fluids, Archives of Virology 51 (1976) 263-273.

[100] J. Shaman, M. Kohn, Absolute humidity modulates influenza survival, transmission, and seasonality, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106 (2009) 3243-3248.

[101] J. Shaman, V.E. Pitzer, C. Viboud, B.T. Grenfell, M. Lipsitch, Absolute humidity and the seasonal onset of influenza in the continental United States, PLoS Biology 8 (2010) e1000316.

[102] W. Yang, S. Elankumaran, L.C. Marr, Relationship between humidity and influenza A viability in droplets and implications for influenza's seasonality, PloS One 7 (2012) e46789.

[103] S. Howieson, A. Lawson, C. McSharry, G. Morris, E. McKenzie, J. Jackson, Domestic ventilation rates, indoor humidity and dust mite allergens: are our homes causing the asthma pandemic?, Building Services Engineering Research and Technology 24 (2003) 137-147.

[104] D. Allinson, M. Hall, Humidity buffering using stabilised rammed earth materials, (2012).

[105] L.G. Arlian, J.S. Neal, S.W. Bacon, Survival, fecundity, and development of Dermatophagoides farinae (Acari: Pyroglyphidae) at fluctuating relative humidity, Journal of Medical Entomology 35 (1998) 962-966.

[106] L.G. Arlian, Humidity as a factor regulating feeding and water balance of the house dust mites dermatophagoides farinae and *D. pteronyssinus* (Acari: *Pyroglyphidae*), Journal of Medical Entomology 14 (1977) 484-488.

[107] L.B. Gunnarsen, K. Sidenius, T. Hallas, House dust mites, humidity of room air and flooring materials, The 9th International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate, 2002, pp. 725-730.

[108] J. Harvie-Clark, M. Siddall, Noise and ventilation in dwellings, (2014).

[109] R. Hobday, Indoor environmental quality in refurbishment, Historic Scotland Technical Paper 12 (2011).

[110] R. Hobday, Designing houses for health-a review, Commissioned by the VELUX Company Ltd (2010).

[111] S. Howieson, Are our homes making us ill? The impact of energy efficiency on indoor air quality, Perspectives in Public Health 134 (2014) 318-319.

[112] C. Luczynska, J. Sterne, J. Bond, H. Azima, P. Burney, Indoor factors associated with concentrations of house dust mite allergen, Der p 1, in a random sample of houses in Norwich, UK, Clinical and Experimental Allergy 28 (1998) 1201-1209.

[113] D. Crowther, J. Horwood, N. Baker, D. Thomson, S. Pretlove, I. Ridley, T. Oreszczyn, House dust mites and the built environment: a literature review, University College London, London (2000).

[114] H. Theunissen, N.A. Lemmens-den Toom, A. Burggraaf, E. Stolz, M. Michel, Influence of temperature and relative humidity on the survival of Chlamydia pneumoniae in aerosols, Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59 (1993) 2589-2593.

[115] M. Hatch, R. Dimmick, Physiological responses of airborne bacteria to shifts in relative humidity, Bacteriological Reviews 30 (1966) 597.

[116] Y.G. Karim, M.K. Ijaz, S.A. Sattar, C.M. Johnson-Lussenburg, Effect of relative humidity on the airborne survival of rhinovirus-14, Canadian Journal of Microbiology 31 (1985) 1058-1061.

[117] T. Akers, S. Bond, L. Goldberg, Effect of temperature and relative humidity on survival of airborne Columbia SK group viruses, Applied Microbiology 14 (1966) 361-364.

[118] A. Donaldson, The influence of relative humidity on the aerosol stability of different strains of foot-and-mouth disease virus suspended in saliva, Journal of General Virology 15 (1972) 25-33.

[119] J. Hermann, S. Hoff, C. Muñoz-Zanzi, K.-J. Yoon, M. Roof, A. Burkhardt, J. Zimmerman, Effect of temperature and relative humidity on the stability of infectious porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in aerosols, Veterinary Research 38 (2007) 81-93.

[120] T.-C. Chou, K.-H. Lin, S.-M. Wang, C.-W. Lee, S.-B. Su, T.-S. Shih, H.-Y. Chang, Transepidermal water loss and skin capacitance alterations among workers in an ultra-low humidity environment, Archives of Dermatological Research 296 (2005) 489-495.

[121] K. Collins, A. Exton-Smith, C. Doré, Urban hypothermia: preferred temperature and thermal perception in old age, British Medical Journal (Clinical research ed.) 282 (1981) 175.

[122] J. Díaz, A. Jordán, R. García, C. López, J. Alberdi, E. Hernández, A. Otero, Heat waves in Madrid 1986–1997: effects on the health of the elderly, International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 75 (2002) 163-170.

[123] M.E. Garcia, Dehydration of the elderly in nursing homes, Nutrition Noteworthy 4 (2001).

[124] N. Hashiguchi, Y. Tochihara, T. Ohnaka, C. Tsuchida, T. Otsuki, Physiological and subjective responses in the elderly when using floor heating and air conditioning systems, Journal of Physiological Anthropology and Applied Human Science 23 (2004) 205-213.

[125] O. Inbar, N. Morris, Y. Epstein, G. Gass, Comparison of thermoregulatory responses to exercise in dry heat among prepubertal boys, young adults and older males, Experimental Physiology 89 (2004) 691-700.

[126] T.M. Mäkinen, R. Juvonen, J. Jokelainen, T.H. Harju, A. Peitso, A. Bloigu, S. Silvennoinen-Kassinen, M. Leinonen, J. Hassi, Cold temperature and low humidity are associated with increased occurrence of respiratory tract infections, Respiratory Medicine 103 (2009) 456-462.

[127] R. Pfluger, W. Feist, C. Baumgartner, M. Theumer, Fresh air–but not too dry, please: Physiological impairments of individuals at low indoor air humidity and how to avoid, Proceedings of the International Passive House Conference Dresden, 2010, pp. 393-379.

[128] J. Rocklöv, B. Forsberg, The effect of high ambient temperature on the elderly population in three regions of Sweden, International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 7 (2010) 2607-2619.

[129] J. Rudge, R. Gilchrist, Excess winter morbidity among older people at risk of cold homes: a population-based study in a London borough, Journal of Public Health 27 (2005) 353-358.

[130] B. Salah, A.D. Xuan, J. Fouilladieu, A. Lockhart, J. Regnard, Nasal mucociliary transport in healthy subjects is slower when breathing dry air, European Respiratory Journal 1 (1988) 852-855.

[131] F. Seyfarth, S. Schliemann, D. Antonov, P. Elsner, Dry skin, barrier function, and irritant contact dermatitis in the elderly, Clinics in Dermatology 29 (2011) 31-36.

[132] E.F. White-Chu, M. Reddy, Dry skin in the elderly: complexities of a common problem, Clinics in Dermatology 29 (2011) 37-42.

[133] T. Grøntoft, Measurements and modelling of the ozone deposition velocity to concrete tiles, including the effect of diffusion, Atmospheric Environment 38 (2004) 49-58.

[134] N. Altimir, P. Kolari, J.-P. Tuovinen, T. Vesala, J. Bäck, T. Suni, M. Kulmala, P. Hari, Foliage surface ozone deposition: a role for surface moisture?, Biogeosciences Discussions 2 (2006) 1739-1793.

[135] T. Grøntoft, Dry deposition of ozone on building materials. Chamber measurements and modelling of the time-dependent deposition, Atmospheric Environment 36 (2002) 5661-5670.

[136] M. Nicolas, O. Ramalho, F. Maupetit, Reactions between ozone and building products: impact on primary and secondary emissions, Atmospheric Environment 41 (2007) 3129-3138.

[137] E. Uhde, T. Salthammer, Impact of reaction products from building materials and furnishings on indoor air quality—a review of recent advances in indoor chemistry, Atmospheric Environment 41 (2007) 3111-3128.

[138] A. Vibenholt, P.A. Clausen, P. Wolkoff, Ozone reaction characteristics of indoor floor dust examined in the emission cell "FLEC", Chemosphere 107 (2014) 230-239.

[139] C.J. Weschler, Ozone in indoor environments: concentration and chemistry, Indoor Air 10 (2000) 269-288.

[140] R. Hitzenberger, A. Berner, U. Dusek, R. Alabashi, Humidity-dependent growth of sizesegregated aerosol samples, Aerosol Science and Technology 27 (1997) 116-130.

[141] G. Galadanci, B. Tijjani, Effect of Relative Humidity on Arctic Aerosols, Advances in Physics Theories and Applications 36 (2014) 1-19.

[142] G. Hänel, The properties of atmospheric aerosol particles as functions of the relative humidity at thermodynamic equilibrium with the surrounding moist air, Advances in Geophysics 19 (1976) 73-188.

[143] N.M. Kreisberg, M.R. Stolzenburg, S.V. Hering, W.D. Dick, P.H. McMurry, A new method for measuring the dependence of particle size distributions on relative humidity, with application to the Southeastern Aerosol and Visibility Study, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012) 106 (2001) 14935-14949.

[144] X. Li-Jones, H. Maring, J. Prospero, Effect of relative humidity on light scattering by mineral dust aerosol as measured in the marine boundary layer over the tropical Atlantic Ocean, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012) 103 (1998) 31113-31121.

[145] P.H. McMurry, M.R. Stolzenburg, On the sensitivity of particle size to relative humidity for Los Angeles aerosols, Atmospheric Environment (1967) 23 (1989) 497-507.

[146] L. Mølhave, B. Bach, O.F. Pedersen, Human reactions to low concentrations of volatile organic compounds, Environment International 12 (1986) 167-175.

[147] M. Rood, T. Larson, D. Covert, N. Ahlquist, Measurement of laboratory and ambient aerosols with temperature and humidity controlled nephelometry, Atmospheric Environment (1967) 19 (1985) 1181-1190.

[148] L. Fang, D. Wyon, G. Clausen, P.O. Fanger, Impact of indoor air temperature and humidity in an office on perceived air quality, SBS symptoms and performance, Indoor Air 14 (2004) 74-81.

[149] R. Goyal, M. Khare, P. Kumar, Indoor air quality: current status, missing links and future road map for India, Journal of Civil and Environmental Engineering 2 (2012) 2-4.

[150] B.W. Olesen, Indoor environment-health-comfort and productivity, Proceedings of Clima (2005).

[151] I. Schnell, O. Potchter, Y. Epstein, Y. Yaakov, H. Hermesh, S. Brenner, E. Tirosh, The effects of exposure to environmental factors on Heart Rate Variability: An ecological perspective, Environmental Pollution 183 (2013) 7-13.

[152] L. Šeduikyte, V. Paukštys, Evaluation of indoor environment conditions in offices located in buildings with large glazed areas, Journal of Civil Engineering and Management 14 (2008) 39-44.

[153] P. Skov, O. Valbjørn, The "sick" building syndrome in the office environment: the Danish Town Hall Study, Environment International 13 (1987) 339-349.

[154] N. Fiedler, R. Laumbach, K. Kelly-McNeil, P. Lioy, Z.-H. Fan, J. Zhang, J. Ottenweller, P. Ohman-Strickland, H. Kipen, Health effects of a mixture of indoor air volatile organics, their ozone oxidation products, and stress, Environmental health perspectives (2005) 1542-1548.

[155] G. Green, The positive and negative effects of building humidification, ASHRAE Transactions, 88 (1982).

[156] M. Hodgson, Indoor environmental exposures and symptoms, Environmental Health Perspectives 110 (2002) 663.

[157] D. Norbäck, I. Michel, J. Widström, Indoor air quality and personal factors related to the sick building syndrome, Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health (1990) 121-128.

[158] L.M. Reinikainen, J.J. Jaakkola, O. Seppänen, The effect of air humidification on symptoms and perception of indoor air quality in office workers: a six-period cross-over trial, Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal 47 (1992) 8-15.

[159] P. Skov, O. Valbjørn, B.V. Pedersen, Influence of indoor climate on the sick building syndrome in an office environment, Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health (1990) 363-371.

[160] P. Wolkoff, S.K. Kjærgaard, The dichotomy of relative humidity on indoor air quality, Environment International 33 (2007) 850-857.

[161] C.-G. Bornehag, G. Blomquist, F. Gyntelberg, B. Jarvholm, P. Malmberg, L. Nordvall, A. Nielsen, G. Pershagen, J. Sundell, Dampness in buildings and health, Indoor Air 11 (2001) 72-86.

[162] W. Cain, R. Schmidt, P. Wolkoff, Olfactory detection of ozone and d-limonene: reactants in indoor spaces, Indoor Air 17 (2007) 337-347.

[163] L. Fang, G. Clausen, P.O. Fanger, Impact of temperature and humidity on chemical and sensory emissions from building materials, Indoor Air 9 (1999) 193-201.

[164] S. Geving, J. Holme, Mean and diurnal indoor air humidity loads in residential buildings, Journal of Building Physics (2011) 1744259111423084.

[165] L.G. Hersoug, Viruses as the causative agent related to 'dampness' and the missing link between allergen exposure and onset of allergic disease, Indoor Air 15 (2005) 363-366.

[166] A. L Undin, V. M Usabašić, Improved health after intervention in a school with moisture problems, Indoor Air 10 (2000) 57-62.

[167] J. Mlakar, J. Štrancar, Temperature and humidity profiles in passive-house building blocks, Building and Environment 60 (2013) 185-193.

[168] Ismail, A. R., M. Yusof, Kamaruzzaman Sopian, M. Rani, Zafir Khan Mohamed Makhbul, and N. K. Makhtar. "Optimizing humidity level and illuminance to enhance worker performance in an automotive industry." Journal of Applied Sciences 10, no. 14 (2010): 1389-1396.

[169] C.K. Wilkins, P. Wolkoff, P.A. Clausen, M. Hammer, G.D. Nielsen, Upper airway irritation of terpene/ozone oxidation products (TOPS). Dependence on reaction time, relative humidity and initial ozone concentration, Toxicology letters 143 (2003) 109-114.

[170] M. Woloszyn, T. Kalamees, M.O. Abadie, M. Steeman, A.S. Kalagasidis, The effect of combining a relative-humidity-sensitive ventilation system with the moisture-buffering capacity of materials on indoor climate and energy efficiency of buildings, Building and Environment 44 (2009) 515-524.

[171] A.C. Lowen, S. Mubareka, J. Steel, P. Palese, Influenza virus transmission is dependent on relative humidity and temperature, PLoS Pathogens 3 (2007) e151.

[172] L.G. Arlian, J.S. Neal, M.S. Morgan, D.L. Vyszenski-Moher, C.M. Rapp, A.K. Alexander, Reducing relative humidity is a practical way to control dust mites and their allergens in homes in temperate climates, Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 107 (2001) 99-104.

[173] D.A. Kaminsky, C.G. Irvin, D.A. Gurka, D.C. Feldsien, E.M. Wagner, M.C. Liu, S.E. Wenzel, Peripheral airways responsiveness to cool, dry air in normal and asthmatic individuals, American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 152 (1995) 1784-1790.

[174] A.C. Lowen, J. Steel, Roles of humidity and temperature in shaping influenza seasonality, Journal of Virology (2014) JVI. 03544-03513.

[175] P. Rota, E. Rocha, M. Harmon, V. Hinshaw, M. Sheerar, Y. Kawaoka, N. Cox, T. Smith, Laboratory characterization of a swine influenza virus isolated from a fatal case of human influenza, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 27 (1989) 1413-1416.

[176] M.N. Bucak, P.B. Tuncer, S. Sarıözkan, N. Başpınar, M. Taşpınar, K. Çoyan, A. Bilgili, P.P. Akalın, S. Büyükleblebici, S. Aydos, Effects of antioxidants on post-thawed bovine sperm and oxidative stress parameters: antioxidants protect DNA integrity against cryodamage, Cryobiology 61 (2010) 248-253.